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ABSTRACT 
 
An archaeological investigation has established the presence of a previously unrecorded 
water corn mill in the valley of Elder Slack on the border of Gilling Park and Yearsley Moor; 
SE 458881 476028. 
 
The evidence from pottery recovered from the site suggests that the mill was built in the 
late 12th to early 13th century and that it operated, perhaps not continuously, until the early 
18th century. 
 
Despite exhaustive research, no map based or documentary evidence has been uncovered 
to place the mill at this precise location; but a sale indenture from 1559-60 and the names of 
Yearsley millers dating from the 17th to the early 18th century, extracted from local parish 
records and inquisitions post mortem, establishes the fact that there was a water mill that 
served the people of Yearsley.  Since no other site has been identified within the parish, it 
may be safe to assume that this was the Yearsley mill. 
 
The mill and its associated buildings appear to have been demolished and buried as part of a 
landscaping project in Gilling Park during the first half of the 18th century.  From that time to 
this, knowledge of the location of the mill appears to have slipped from local memory.  The 
ǇǊŜǎŜƴŎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǊƻƳŀƴǘƛŎƛǎŜŘ Ψ²ƛƭŘŜǊƴŜǎǎΩ ŀǊŜŀ ǘƘŀǘ ǊŜǇƭŀŎŜŘ ƛǘΣ ƘƻǿŜǾŜǊΣ ǎǘƛƭƭ ŀǇǇŜŀǊǎ ƻƴ 
maps today. 
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INTRODUCTION 
 
Aims and Objectives 
 
The Yearsley Mill Research Project (YMRP) was initiated to further investigate the finding of 
an archaeological evaluation carried out on the mill site by Mr L Signiorelli, together with 
members of the earlier Yearsley Moor Archaeological Project (YMAP) team, during the 
winters of 2011-12 and 2012-13 (Signiorelli, 2012, 2013).  The aim was to confirm the 
presence of a water mill, its quality of survival, its stratigraphic complexity and the 
significance of any other features, finds or deposits on the site. 
 

Indication of Archaeological Significance Before Excavation 
 
The initial evaluations had indicated the presence of a possible water corn mill on the site, 
mostly based on the exposure of a complete millstone.  No map based evidence and only 
limited documentary evidence was available for a mill so it was thought that a full 
excavation would provide a more complete picture of the full extent of the site, its date of 
construction and later demolition, its place in the landscape and the reasons for its demise.  
This was a previously unrecorded monument and was considered to be potentially of great 
local and regional importance. 
 

Dates of Commencement and Termination of the Excavations 
 
The excavations commenced on the 12th May 2014 and finished on the 8th Oct 2016.  This 
was a voluntary community project and for the convenience of the participants digging took 
place in three week periods during the spring and autumn of each year.  The intervening 
periods were used for site recording and documentary research. 
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Location Data 

The site is situated on the boundary of Yearsley Moor and Gilling Park in the parish of 

Yearsley, North Yorkshire.  YO64 4JA.  (Fig 1). 

SMR No: 11533 (Associated building remains). 

HER No: 947600 (Associated building remains). 

GRID REF: SE 458881 476028. 

ELEVATION OD: 73m. 

 

 

 

Fig 1:  Location of the mill site 

(Source: Google Maps). 

 

 

 

 

 

  

YEARSLEY MILL 
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Topography, Geology and Soils 
 
The topography and geology of the area around the mill site have an important bearing on 
the position of the mill in the landscape. 
 
The mill complex, including the pond, the mill and the associated buildings are situated 
around the 75m contour in the valley of a small stream called Elder Slack.  The stream rises 
on the hill slope some 750m to the SW of the site, where it is fed by several springs that 
appear to provide a constant supply of water throughout the year. 
 
The village of Yearsley, which the mill is thought to service, lies just over a mile (1.66 km) to 
the south of the site at a height of 160m above sea level.  The village is positioned on a ridge 
of permeable Scarborough Formation limestone and calcareous sandstones with no reliable 
source of surface water, drinking water having been originally drawn from wells dug into the 
limestone.  The stream in Elder Slack may therefore have been the closest source of water 
suitable to drive the mill. 
 
A long disused and overgrown track-way has also been found that would have linked the 
village with the mill, this route partially following the valley of Elder Slack. 
 
The mill is situated where the stream flows over the mudstone and sandstone of the Scalby 
Formation, laid down in the Middle Jurassic period some 174 ς 163 million years ago.  During 
the construction of the site the overburden of sandy silty soils appears to have been cleared 
to expose the bedrock; this has been utilised to provide a solid foundation for the mill and 
the adjoining building and a series of post holes and wall foundation trenches have been cut 
into the rock as part of the construction process. 
 
The sandy limestone from quarries on the Scarborough Formation ridge overlooking the site 
may also have provided the stone for the mill buildings.  Quarry Hill (SE 588 752) would 
appear to be a likely source. 
 
A further point of interest is the impermeable layer of clay called the Leberston Member 
that underlies the limestone ridge and helps create the spring line feeding the Elder Slack 
stream.  The clay from this layer may also have provided the raw material for a local pottery 
industry, an abundance of the sherds from which have been recovered from the mill site. 
 

Context in Terms of Neighbouring Monuments and Local Artefact Distribution 
 
The mill site lies within a particularly rich and diverse historic environment.  Comprehensive 
and wide-ranging studies of the area have been undertaken by the YMAP team (YMAP, Final 
Report 2013) ŀƴŘ ōȅ ƭƻŎŀƭ ƘƛǎǘƻǊƛŀƴ WƻƘƴ aŀǊǿƻƻŘ ƛƴ Ƙƛǎ ΨIƛǎǘƻǊȅ ƻŦ DƛƭƭƛƴƎΩ (Marwood, 
1995). 
 
Features of immediate relevance to the mill are the nearby building foundations 
investigated by Signiorelli in 2011-12 (Signiorelli, 2012) and the mill pond (NMY 11605) 
detailed in the YMAP report (YMAP, Final Report, 2013, 64-6).  The building foundations 
appear to be contemporary with the mill as the building style and the materials used are 
similar, the pottery recovered from both sites was also comparable (Young, 2013, 9-10).  
Further investigation would be necessary to prove the association but it is possible that the 
building provided accommodation for the miller and his family and that it was part of a 
wider complex of structures on the site.  The Papist Register of 1720 lists a kiln, garden, 
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orchard and cuǊǘƛƭŀƎŜ ǘƻƎŜǘƘŜǊ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ΨǿŀǘŜǊ ŎƻǊƴ-ƳƛƭƴΩ, which also suggests that there 
were other activities taking place here (NYCRO, Northallerton Quarter Sessions, 1720, 82).  
An estate map from the 19th century also shows a series of small enclosures close to where 
the mill would have stood, possibly taken (assarted) from the Yearsley Moor common land 
and used for farming activities alongside the mill (NYCRO, ZDV, MIC. 1504, frame 344) 
(Fig 2). 
 

 

Fig 2:  Position of the mill and adjacent enclosures 

A further item of interest is the boundary wall extending SE from the mill, originally 
ŘŜǎŎǊƛōŜŘ ŀǎ ŀ ΨǇƻǎǎƛōƭŜ Ǉƻǎǘ ƳŜŘƛŜǾŀƭ ǿŀƭƭ ƛƴ DƛƭƭƛƴƎ tŀǊƪΩ όI9w bƻΦ фптсмсΣ {9 рфоп тртсύΦ  
This feature was investigated during the YMAP survey of 2009 ς 2013  and was shown to be 
part of the ƭŀƴŘǎŎŀǇŜŘ ǇŀǊƪ ōƻǳƴŘŀǊȅΣ ōƻǊŘŜǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǊƻƳŀƴǘƛŎƛǎŜŘ Ψ²ƛƭŘŜǊƴŜǎǎΩ ŀǊŜŀ ǘƘŀǘ ƛǎ 
still shown on current OS maps.  The wall appears to have replaced an earlier deer park 
ōƻǳƴŘŀǊȅ ƻǊ ΨtŀǊƪ tŀƭŜΩ ƎƛǾŜƴ ƭƛŎŜƴŎŜ ƛƴ мотп (YMAP Final Report, 2013, 31-40).  The 
boundary has been shown to extend to the north and south of the mill but a gap appears to 
exist where the mill and its associated buildings are situated, again suggesting some 
additional use for the site, possible as a gate lodge, although further investigation would be 
required to show this relationship more clearly. 
 
The track-way linking the mill with Yearsley village was also rediscovered during the YMAP 
survey (p.59). Although it does not appear on the original 1856 OS map the much overgrown 
track can be followed on the ground along the side of Elder Slack back towards the village.  It 
Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ǎƻ ǿŜƭƭ ǳǎŜŘ ƛƴ ǇƭŀŎŜǎ ǘƘŀǘ ƛǘ Ƙŀǎ ŦƻǊƳŜŘ ŀ ǎǳƴƪŜƴ ǊƻŀŘ ƻǊ ΨƘƻƭƭƻǿ-wayΩ ό¸a!t 
Final Report, 2013, 59). 
 

  

GILLING PARK 

YEARSLEY MOOR 

MILL SITE 

PARK BOUNDARY FIELD ENCLOSURES 
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HISTORICAL BACKGROUND 
 
The documentary research aimed to answer questions such as when the mill was built and 
operated, how it came to be located in Gilling Park, who instigated it and who operated it?   
 

The Documentary Record 
 
Yearsley, which had various spellings including Everslage (11th Century), Eversley (13th 
Century) and Yereslay (15th Century), in the Parish of Coxwold was held by Hugh, son of 
Baldric, at the time of the Domesday survey of AD 1086.  The survey makes no mention of a 
mill there. 
 
!ŎŎƻǊŘƛƴƎ ǘƻ Ψ¢ƘŜ CƻǳƴŘŀǘƛƻƴǎ ƻŦ .ȅƭŀƴŘǎ !ōōŜȅΩ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ DŜƴǘƭŜƳŀƴΩǎ aŀƎŀȊƛƴŜ ƻŦ мупоΣ 
Thomas Colville was given Yearsley by his father, also Thomas, between 1135 and 1154.  The 
Colvilles were the tenants of the manor for many years (held of the de Mowbrays, the 
tenants-in-chief of Thirsk, Coxwold and area who founded Newburgh Priory in 1145) and 
records show various activities by the family.  In 1254 de Colville was in dispute with Richard 
de Riparia over common pasture in Yearsley1 and in 1298 there was a complaint by the Prior 
ƻŦ bŜǿōǳǊƎƘ ǘƘŀǘ ƘŜ ŀǎǎŀǳƭǘŜŘ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƛƻǊΩǎ ǎŜǊǾŀƴǘǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƻƻƪ ŀǿŀȅ Ƙƛǎ ŘƻƎǎ ŀƴŘ ƎǊŜȅƘƻǳƴŘǎ2.  
YƛǊƪōȅΩǎ LƴǉǳŜǎǘ ƻŦ мнуп-5 said that in the township of Yearsley three carucates of land were 
held by Thomas de Coleville and he held them of Roger de Mowbray, who held them of the 
king in chief3.  Nothing remains of the Yorkshire Lay Subsidy of 1297 for the North Riding, 
but the Yorkshire Lay Subsidy of 13014 ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜǎ Ψ9ǾŜǊǎƭŜȅΩ ŀƴŘ DƛƭƭƛƴƎ ǿƛǘƘƻǳǘ ŀƴȅ ƳŜƴǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ 
a miller.  Presumably the de Colvilles entertained the king, Edward I, when he stayed in 
Yearsley on 13 and 14 June 1301 on the way from Beverley to Tynemouth raising an army to 
fight the Scots.   
 
On the Sunday after Easter, 1322, Margaret de Colville fled her ƘǳǎōŀƴŘΩǎ house taking only 
her gown and went to stay with Agatha, late wife of Marmaduke Darell, knight, and her son 
Richard, where she stayed, certainly until early June5.  Unfortunately, we have no more 
information as to why she left the house (nor whereabouts the house actually was in 
Yearsley).  It was in 1322 that Edward II went north to fight the Scots, but at Easter he was in 
ǘƘŜ tƻƴǘŜŦǊŀŎǘ ŀǊŜŀ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ .ŀǘǘƭŜ ƻŦ .ȅƭŀƴŘ ǘƻƻƪ ǇƭŀŎŜ ƛƴ hŎǘƻōŜǊ ǎƻ aŀǊƎŀǊŜǘΩǎ ŘŜǇŀǊǘǳǊŜ 
was probably of a more personal nature.  Nevertheless, it must have been a fearful time for 
the people in the area:  they heard on 8 May that the Scots were preparing to invade and 
Edward was rushing to raise and arm his troops6. 
 
In 1347 a Thomas de Colville was given licence to impark hƛǎ ǿƻƻŘ ƻŦ Ψ.ǳƪŘŜƴǎȅƪŜ ƛƴ 
¸ŜǾŜǊŜǎƭŜȅΩ7, but the following year the park was broken into and deer stolen8.  No other 
reference has been found to the park so it is not possible to say whether it continued in use, 
but as the Black Death came to the area in 1349, it is possible that de Colville was unable to 
Ƴŀƛƴǘŀƛƴ ƛǘΦ  ²ƘŜǊŜ ŜȄŀŎǘƭȅ ΨBukdensykeΩ wood was located is unclear:  none of the older 

                                                             
1 Calendar of Close Rolls Henry III 1253-54, Vol 8, p 159. 
2 Calendar of Patent Rolls 26 Edward I, Memb 12d, p 381 
3 Surtees Society Vol 49 p 94. 
4 Yorkshire Archaeological Society Record Series Vol XXI, p 87 and p 55. 
5 Calendar of Inquisitions Miscellaneous Vol 2, Section 551. 
6 Calendar of Patent Rolls Vol IV, Pt 2, p 100. 
7 Calendar of Patent Rolls Edward III, Vol 7, p 534 
8 Calendar of Patent Rolls Edward III, Vol 8, pp 66 & 67. 
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ƳŀǇǎ ǎƘƻǿ Ψ.ǳƪŘŜƴΩ ŀǎ ŀ ǿƻƻŘ ƻǊ ǎǘǊŜŀƳ όǎȅƪŜύ ōǳǘ ŎƻǳƭŘ ƛǘ ōŜ ǘƘŜ ǎŀƳŜ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ ΨǘƻǊǊŜƴǘ ŘŜƭ 
.ƻǘǘƻƴΩ ŘŜǎŎǊƛōŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŀgreement of 1385?  It would be interesting to explore the area to 
see whether any evidence of the park remains on the ground, for example was Ψ/Ǌƻǎǎ 5ȅƪŜΩΣ 
a large set of banks and ditches still crossing the Yearsley to Oulston road, part of the park 
pale or a much earlier structure? 
 
In 1349 three tofts and three bovates of land in Yearsley were settled upon Thomas de Etton 
and his wife, Elizabeth, the tenants of Gilling Castle9, and that property continued to be held 
by subsequent Gilling Castle tenants.  Thomas de Colville was confirmed as tenant of the 
lands of Coxwold, Oulston and Yearsley, which Roger de Mowbray had previously granted to 
him, under Thomas Ughtred in 135510. 
 
Lƴ ǘƘŜ ƳŜŀƴǘƛƳŜΣ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ ŘŜ 9ǘǘƻƴ ǿŀǎ ƎƛǾŜƴ ƭƛŎŜƴŎŜ ƛƴ мотп ǘƻ Ψimpark 1,000 acres of land 
and wood at DƛƭƭȅƴƎ ƛƴ wȅŘŀƭŜΣ ŎƻΦ ¸ƻǊƪΧΩ11.Only the Poll Tax of 1377 remains for the area: 
¸ŜŀǊǎƭŜȅ ǿŀǎ ΨǘŀȄŜŘ осΩ ŀƴŘ DƛƭƭƛƴƎ 9ŀǎǘ ǿƛǘƘ DǊƛƳǎǘƻƴ ΨǘŀȄŜŘ млр - £1-15/-Ω 12; no mention 
was made of a miller.  The de Ettons and de Colvilles entered into agreements about their 
land holdings in 1378 and 1385 (Fig 3).  A piece of pasture beyond the Holbeck Stream 
towards Ampleforth was granted by de Colville to de Etton in 137813 and they agreed to 
share the moors and pastures of Gilling and 
Yearsley seven years later14.  Thomas de Colville 
had confirmation of his lands in 139215 but died 
in 1405 without leaving a direct heir.  John Percy 
inherited the lands but had rebelled against the 
king and his lands were forfeit, and so William 
Yhevereslay (Yearsley), who, in the meantime, 
had been taking the profits from the manor 
which had an annual value of 10 marks, retained 
Yearsley16.  William is said to have been 
described as a brother of Thomas Colville17, 
although the Yearsley family had already been of 
some standing (for example Elias de Yeversle had 
ōŜŜƴ ƎǊŀƴǘŜŘ ǘƘŜ ōŀƛƭƛǿƛŎƪ ƻŦ Ψ9ǎȅƴƎǿƻƭŘǿŀƭƪΩ ƛƴ 
the forest of Galtres in 135018) and they 
remained as tenants until 1497 when Thomas 
Yearsley died19.   
 
Fig 3:  Agreement concerning common rights 
between Thomas Colvill and Thomas de Etton dated 8 July 1385  
(With kind permission from The North Yorkshire County Record Office.) 
 

                                                             
9 North Yorkshire County Record Office (hereafter NYCRO) ZQG(F) I 12 Mic 2865/2090. 
10 Calendar of the Patent Rolls Edward III, Vol 10 pp 315 & 316. 
11 NYCRO ZQG(F) I 12, Mic 2865/2117 
12 Ψ¢ƘŜ tƻƭƭ ¢ŀȄŜǎ ƻŦ моттΣ мотф ŀƴŘ моумΩ tǘ о ²ƛƭǘǎ-Yorks. Ed. C C Fenwick, pub. Oxford University 
Press, pp 235 & 242. 
13 NYCRO ZQG(F) I 1-12 Mic 2865/2130 
14 NYCRO ZQG(F) I 12 Mic 2865/2143. 
15 Calendar of Patent Rolls Richard II Vol 5, p 197. 
16 Inquisition Post Mortem 1-6 Henry IV, Vol 18, 1153 & 1155 
17 A History of the County of York North Riding (hereafter VCH) Vol 2, pp 8-24. 
18 Calendar of Patent Rolls Edward III, Vol 8, p 569. 
19 Wills of the Prerogative & Exchequer Courts of York, (hereafter York Wills) 5497, Mic 915. 
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¦ƴŦƻǊǘǳƴŀǘŜƭȅΣ ǘƘŜǊŜ ŀǊŜ ƴƻ ŘŜǘŀƛƭǎ ƻŦ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ ¸ŜŀǊǎƭŜȅΩǎ ƘŜƛǊΣ ōǳǘ ƛƴ мрлл WƻŀƴΣ Ƙƛǎ ǿƛŘƻǿΣ 
claimed against a William Wildon (of Fryton) for dower in certain lands in Yearsley20, so 
presumably William Wildon was then the tenant of the manor.  He died in 150621 and was 
ǇǊƻōŀōƭȅ ǎǳŎŎŜŜŘŜŘ ōȅ WƻƘƴ ²ƛƭŘƻƴΣ ƎŜƴǘƭŜƳŀƴΣ ǿƘƻ ǿŀǎ ǎŀƛŘ ǘƻ ōŜ ΨƻŦ ¸ŜŀǊǎƭŜȅ tŜƛƭŜΩ ƛƴ Ƙƛǎ 
Will of 153822 where there is reference to a house in Yearsley bought from a Robert Hunter.  
ΨtŜŜƭΩ ǎǘƛƭƭ ƻŎŎǳǊǎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǎƻǳǘƘ ƻŦ ¸ŜŀǊǎƭŜȅΥ ΨtŜŜƭ ²ƻƻŘΩΣ ΨtŜŜƭ .ŀƴƪǎΩ ŀƴŘ ǇŀǊǘƛŎǳƭŀǊƭȅ ΨtŜŜƭ 
tŀǊƪΩΤ ƛǎ ǘƘƛǎ ǘƘŜ ǎŀƳŜ ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘȅ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǘƘŜ ²ƛƭŘƻƴǎ ƻŎŎǳǇƛŜŘ ŦƻǊ Ƴŀƴȅ ȅŜŀǊǎΚ  Lǘ ǿƻǳƭŘ ōŜ 
interesting to look further at Peel Park, something which was outside the scope of Yearsley 
Mill Research Project. 
 
In 1558 Thomas de la River, Thomasin his wife and William Wildon sold a messuage with 
lands in Yearsley to Richard Askwith23, but no further mention has been found of his 
ownership.  The de la River family had probably held Brandsby from the 12th Century24, but 
there is no earlier record of their involvement with Yearsley.  According to A History of the 
County of York North Riding: Volume 2, Thomas de la River died in 1558 and although he had 
four illegitimate daughters, Jane, Thomasina, Eleanor, and Elizabeth, the Brandsby estate 
then passed to the Cholmeley family.  In the first year of the reign of Elizabeth in 1559, 
however, there is a record of Thomas de la River, Thomasin his wife and William Wildon 
selling a messuage with lands in Yearsley to Nicholas Fayrfax, kt25.  That same year William 
Wildon agreed an Indenture to sell, 
ŀƳƻƴƎǎǘ ƻǘƘŜǊ ǘƘƛƴƎǎΣ ΨƻƴŜ 
watermilne there with the sute 
thereof and free course of water at all 
times forever as it now hathe at this 
date and late in the tenure of Richard 
Chapman with all with all (sic) other 
ŜŘȅŦƛǘƛƻƴǎ ŀƴŘ ōǳƛƭŘƛƴƎǎ ǘƘŜǊŜǳƴǘƻΧΩ 
to Sir Nicholas Fairfax of Gilling26 
(Fig 4).  In 1560 Wildon, along with 
Leonard Marton and Thomasin, his 
wife, sold the Manor of Yearsley and 
eight messuages and 16 cottages with 
lands there and in Yearsley Peill to Sir 
William Bellassis of Newburgh 
Priory27, by then of course, in private 
ownership.   
 
 
Fig 4: Indenture concerning the purchase of land by Sir Nicholas Fairfax of Gilling dated 29 

April 1559/60 (With kind permission from The North Yorkshire County Record Office.) 

 

                                                             
20 VCH, Vol 2, pp 8-24. 
21 York Wills, 6161, Mic 916. 
22 York Wills, 11,293, Mic 918. 
23 Feet of Fines of the Tudor Period Pt 1, 1557-8, 4&5 Philip & Mary, Hilary Term. 
24 VCH Vol 2, pp 103-107 
25 Feet of Fines of the Tudor Period Pt 1. Yorkshire Archaeological Society, Trinity Term, 1 Elizabeth. 
26 NYCRO Indenture ZDZ I 5 Mic 1352/867. 
27 Feet of Fines of the Tudor Period, Pt 1 Yorkshire Archaeological and Topographical Association 
Record Series Vol II, Michaelmas Term, 2&3 Elizabeth. 
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Sir Nicholas Fairfax died in 1570/1 ΨǎŜƛǎŜŘ ƛƴ Ƙƛǎ ŘŜƳŜǎƴŜ Χ ŀƭǎƻ ΦΦΦ ŀ ƳŜǎǎǳŀƎŜΣ ŘƻǾŜŎƻǘŜΣ 
watermill, 20 acres of pasture and 100 acres of moor in Yearsley, held of William Bellasis, 
ƪƴƛƎƘǘΣ ƛƴ ǎƻŎŀƎŜΣ ŀǎ Ƙƛǎ ƳŀƴƻǊ ƛƴ ¸ŜŀǊǎƭŜȅΣ ǿƻǊǘƘ нлǎ ŀ ȅŜŀǊΩ28.  An Inquisition Post Mortem 
of 1598 for Sir William FairfaȄ ǿƘƻ ŘƛŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǇǊŜǾƛƻǳǎ bƻǾŜƳōŜǊΣ ŀƭǎƻ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ΨhƴŜ 
ƳŜǎǎǳŀƎŜ Χ ƻƴŜ ǿŀǘŜǊ Ƴƛƭƭ ǿƛǘƘ ŀǇǇǳǊǘŜƴŀƴŎŜǎ ƛƴ ¸ŜŀǊǎƭŜȅ ŀƴŘ нл ŀŎǊŜǎ Χ ƘŜƭŘ ƻŦ {ƛǊ 
²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ .Ŝƭƭŀǎǎƛǎ ƻŦ Ƙƛǎ ƳŀƴƻǊ ƻŦ ¸ŜŀǊǎƭŜȅ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜȅ ŀǊŜ ǿƻǊǘƘ нлǎΦ ǇΦŀΦΩ 29.   
 
The Will of a later Bellassis - Sir Henrie, Kt. and Bt. dated 23 December 162430 - is not directly 
related to Yearsley, but of interest in that the Inventory includes a kiln:  a feature at Yearsley 
Mill mentioned in the Register of Papist Estates in 1720 (see below).  The kiln at Newbrough 
PriƻǊȅ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ΨƻƴŜ ƎǊŀǘŜΩΣ ŀ ΨǎǘŜŜǇŜŦŀƭƭΩ όǎƛŎύΣ ΨƻƴŜ ƎǊŜŀǘ ŎǊŀōō ǘǊƻǳƎƘΩ ŀƴŘ ΨƻƴŜ ǾŜǊƎƛǎ 
ōǊŀƪŜΩ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǎŜŜƳ ǘƻ ōŜ ŜǉǳƛǇƳŜƴǘ ŦƻǊ ōǊŜǿƛƴƎΦ  ¢ƘŜ ōŀǊƭŜȅ ƛǎ ǎƻŀƪŜŘ ƛƴ ǿŀǘŜǊ ŦƻǊ ǎŜǾŜǊŀƭ 
days (steeped), spread out to sprout and germinate then dried either in the sun or a kiln.  
Ψ±ŜǊƎƛǎΩ ƛǎ ǾŜǊƧǳƛŎŜ ƳŀŘŜ ƻŦ ŎǊŀō-apples or unripe grapes and was widely used at that time in 
sauces where we would now use vinegar.  The crab-apples were crushed in a mill, the liquor 
pressed out and stored.  There has been some debate about what type of kiln it was at 
Yearsley Mill:  a kiln or oat roasting plate for drying the cereal before milling as at Arden 
Mill31, a pottery kiln, or a kiln for roasting the barley for brewing.  Given that the tenant of 
Yearsley Mill had the equipment to mill crab-apples, oats or barley, a pottery kiln seems the 
least likely option. 
 
The Hearth Tax for Gilling at Michaelmas 1673 included 21 hearths belonging to Lord Fairfax, 
a Mr Peacocke had four hearths and the remaining 30 tenants had one or two hearths or 
were discharged.  Yearsley showed 41 hearths; the majority of people had only one hearth, 
three were exempt and eight had two hearths; no-one had more, so presumably there was 
no large house in occupation at the time32Φ  ΨWƻǎ ²ƛƭŘŜƴΩ ς possibly a descendant of the 
earlier landholders? ς ƘŀŘ ǘǿƻ ƘŜŀǊǘƘǎΣ ΨWƻ ²ŜŘƎŜǿƻƻŘΩΣ ǘƘŜ ǇƻǘǘŜǊΣ ƘŀŘ ƻƴŜ ƘŜŀǊǘƘ ŀǎ ƘŀŘ 
Ψ²Ř ¸ŜǿŀǊǘΩΦ  όΨ²ŘΩ ƛǎ ǇǊƻōŀōƭȅ ŀƴ ŀōōǊŜǾƛŀǘƛƻƴ ŦƻǊ Ψ²ƛŘƻǿΩΦύ  The Coxwold Parish Registers 
for 17th Century do not show any other Yewarts at Yearsley, so could Widow Yewart have 
ōŜŜƴ ǘƘŜ ǿƛŘƻǿ ƻŦ ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ ¸ƻǿŀǊŘ όǎŜŜ Ψ¢Ŝƴŀƴǘǎ ƻŦ ¸ŜŀǊǎƭŜȅ aƛƭƭΩ ōŜƭƻǿύ ǿƘƻ ŘƛŜŘ ŦƻǳǊ 
years earlier?  There is no obvious mention of a tax on a hearth at Yearsley Mill and neither 
Dinnison or Yoward (except Wd Yewart) are mentioned in the Gilling and Yearsley returns.  
Does this mean there was no hearth at either the mill or the building nearby in 1673, or was 
the mill hearth, which we found during excavation, discounted as not being in a dwelling, 
was it not in use at the time or was it simply overlooked?  Could it have been created 
between 1673 and 1720 when we know that there was a kiln associated with the mill (see 
Ψ¢ƘŜ wŜƎƛǎǘŜǊ oŦ tŀǇƛǎǘ 9ǎǘŀǘŜǎΩ ōŜƭƻǿ)? 
 
The Hungate and Fairfax Family Papers include rentals for the years 171133, 171234 and 
171935 ǿƘƛŎƘ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜ ΨDŜƻǊƎŜ ¸ƻǿŀǊŘ ƻŦ aƛƭƭΣ /ŀǘƘŜǊƛƴŜ /ƭƻǎŜ ŀƴŘ ²ŀƭƭǎ /ƭƻǎŜΩ ŀǘ ŀ ǊŜƴǘŀƭ ƻŦ 
£7 03s. 04d.  Gilling Mill is also mentioned: in 1711 the rental was £1 10s., in 1712 it was £2 
and in 1719 it was 3s. 04d.  It is interesting how the rent varied and also how much less it 

                                                             
28 Yorkshire Archaeological Journal XIX, MCMVII, pp 191&2. 
29 Inquisition Post Mortem, 13 Elizabeth, Pt 1 No 41. 
30 Wills of the Prerogative & Exchequer Courts of York,Vol 38, Fol 544, Mic 955. 
31 Ψ9ƛƎƘǘ /ŜƴǘǳǊƛŜǎ ƻŦ aƛƭƭƛƴƎ ƛƴ bƻǊǘƘ 9ŀǎǘ ¸ƻǊƪǎƘƛǊŜΩ ōȅ WƻƘƴ Y IŀǊǊƛǎƻƴΣ ǇǳōΦ bƻǊǘƘ ¸ƻǊƪ aƻƻǊǎ 
National Park Authority, 2001, p. 233. 
32 NYCRO Ripon Historical Society, 1991, CRONT 1453 & 1454. 
33 NYCRO ZDV(F) Hungate and Fairfax Family Papers, Mic 1128/3504. 
34 Ibid, Mic 1128/3517. 
35 NYCRO ZQG(F) V Estate 3.4.1 Mic 2814/1063. 
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was than the rent for Yearsley Mill, but perhaps the difference was due, to some extent, to 
the inclusion of Catherine and Walls Closes.   
 
In 1720 the Register of Papist Estates36 listed under the ownership of William Lord Viscount 
CŀƛǊŦŀȄ ƻŦ 9Ƴǳƭŀ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ YƛƴƎŘƻƳ ƻŦ LǊŜƭŀƴŘΣ ΨLƴ 9ŀǊǎƭŜȅ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǇŀǊƛǎƘ ƻŦ /ƻȄǿƻǳƭŘΣ ŀ ƳŜǎǎge., a 
water-cornmilne, and kiln, garden, orchard and curtilage, with several lands, &c, let to Jane 
and Geo. Yoward for ninety-nine years if they or either of them should so long live, at £4 fine 
ǇŀƛŘ ϻнлΤ ΧΩΦ  Lǘ ƛǎ ǿƻǊǘƘ ƴƻǘƛƴƎ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ Ƴƛƭƭ ǿŀǎ ǎŀƛŘ ǘƻ ōŜ ΨLƴ 9ŀǊǎƭŜȅ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǇŀǊƛǎƘ ƻŦ 
/ƻȄǿƻǳƭŘΩ ƛƴ ǎǇƛǘŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘȅ ōŜƛƴƎ ƻǿƴŜŘ ōȅ CŀƛǊŦŀȄ ƻŦ DƛƭƭƛƴƎΤ ǘƘŜ /ƛǾƛƭ tŀǊƛǎƘ 
boundary running the length of the lakes, still separates the site of the mill from Gilling 
Parish. 
 
For probably 50 years in the mid-18th Century Charles Gregory, Ninth Lord Fairfax of Emley, 
instituted many improvements to Gilling Park adding, amongst other things, ponds, temples 
ŀƴŘ Ψ¢ƘŜ ²ƛƭŘŜǊƴŜǎǎΩ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ǘƘŜ Ƴƛƭƭ ƭŀƴŘΦ  ¢ƘŜ ±ƻǳŎƘŜǊǎ ƘŜ ƭŜŦǘ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜ ŀƴ ƛƴǎƛƎƘǘ 
ƛƴǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǿƻǊƪ ŘƻƴŜ ŀƴŘ ƛǘǎ ŎƻǎǘΦ  ¢ƘŜȅ ŀƭǎƻ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ǊŜŦŜǊŜƴŎŜǎ ǘƻ ΨǘƘŜ ƻǳƭŘ ƳƛƭƭΩ37:  A bill 
dated 19 September 1748 quoted £2 10/- ŦƻǊ ǿŀƭƭƛƴƎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ΨƻǳƭŘ ƳƛƭƭΩΣ ŀ ōƛƭƭ ƻŦ 14 November 
мтпу ŎƘŀǊƎŜŘ ŦƻǊ ŎŀǊǘƛƴƎ ǎǘƻƴŜǎ ǘƻ ΨȅŜ hǳƭŘ aƛƭƭΩ ŀƴŘ ƻƴ ол bƻǾŜƳōŜǊ мтпу CŀƛǊŦŀȄ ǿŀǎ 
ōƛƭƭŜŘ ΨŦƻǊ ƎŜǘǘƛƴƎ ǳǇ ǎǘƻƴŜǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ tŀǊƪ ²ŀƭƭΧǘƻ ǘƘŜ hǳƭŘ aƛƭƭΩΦ  /ƭŜŀǊƭȅ ǘƘŜ Ƴƛƭƭ ƘŀŘ ƎƻƴŜ 
out of use. 
 
Some more snippets of information about the mill can be gleaned from 17th and 18th Century 
Wills and Parish Records as detailed below. 
 
Finally, one comparatively recent reference to the mill, presumably from local oral history, 
ŀǇǇŜŀǊǎ ƛƴ ά¢ƘŜ bƻǊǘƘ ¸ƻǊƪǎƘƛǊŜ ±ƛƭƭŀƎŜ .ƻƻƪέ38 ǿƘƛŎƘ ǎŀȅǎ άŦƛƴŜ ǿŀƭƪǎ ǘo be found through 
the woods and down to the three lakes where Yearsley water mill was once situated.  Sadly, 
ǘƘŜǊŜ ƛǎ ƴƻǿ ƴƻ ǘǊŀŎŜ ƻŦ ƛǘΦέ   
 

Maps and Boundaries 
 
Unfortunately, no maps, charts or plans have been found which show Yearsley Mill.  The 
earliest map of the area, dated 160539 covers the land owned by Sir William Bellassis, 
including Yearsley village, but by then he had sold the mill to Sir William Fairfax.  Similarly, a 
map of 172740 shows Yearsley village, but not the mill.   
 
The earliest plan of Gilling land found so far is undated but could have been created in the 
late 18th/early 19th Century; by then, the mill had been landscaped over by Sir Nicholas 
Fairfax.  Again, the First Edition Ordnance Survey maps are far too late. 
 
The 14th Century agreements between Thomas de Colville and Thomas de Etton are the 
most useful documents found which give some idea of their land holdings.  The 1378 
ŘƻŎǳƳŜƴǘ ŘŜƭƛƴŜŀǘŜǎ ŀ ǇƛŜŎŜ ƻŦ ǇŀǎǘǳǊŜ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ ǘƘŜ IƻƭōŜŎƪ ǎǘǊŜŀƳ ŀƴŘ /ŀƭƭƛƎŜǊ {ƭŀŎƪ Ψŀǎ 

                                                             
36 The North Riding Record Society, Vol VIII, Quarter Sessions Records (Ed. Rev. J C Atkinson, DCL) 
1890, p 82. 
37 b¸/wh ½5±όCύ ΨCŀƛǊŦŀȄ ǾƻǳŎƘŜǊǎ мтооςмтрнΩ aƛŎ ммомκтстсΣ тсфл ϧ ттмнΦ 
38 North Yorkshire Federation ƻŦ ²ƻƳŜƴΩǎ LƴǎǘƛǘǳǘŜǎΦ  tǳōƭƛǎƘŜŘ Ƨƻƛƴǘƭȅ ōȅ /ƻǳƴǘǊȅǎƛŘŜ .ƻƻƪǎΣ 
Newbury & the NEYFWI, Thirsk & the NWYFWI, Harrogate, 1991. 
39 NYCRO ZDV Mic 1504/145-157. 
40 NYCRO ZDV VI 6 Mic 1504/390-405. 
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far as the soil of !ƳǇƭŜŦƻǊǘƘΩ ŦƻǊ ŜƴƭŀǊƎƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŘŜ 9ǘǘƻƴΩǎ ǇŀǊƪ ŀǘ DƛƭƭƛƴƎ41.  Looking at recent 
maps, it is difficult to work out where that pasture could have been, but if the stream known 
now as Calliger Slack retained that name for the length of Gilling Park, the low-lying land to 
the north east of the Lower Fish Pond could have been the pasture de Etton obtained.  
 

 

Fig 5: Possible boundaries of Gilling and Yearsley Moors as outlined in 1385 agreement 

More importantly, the agreement between Thomas de Coleville and Thomas de Etton on 8 
Wǳƭȅ моур ƻǳǘƭƛƴŜǎ ǘƘŜ ŜȄǘŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ΨƳƻƻǊǎ ŀƴŘ ǇŀǎǘǳǊŜǎ ƻŦ ¸ŜŀǊǎƭŜȅ ŀƴŘ DƛƭƭƛƴƎΩΣ ǘƘŜ DƛƭƭƛƴƎ 
boundaries being marked with stones.  (Fig 5ύ  DƛƭƭƛƴƎ aƻƻǊ ǎǘǊŜǘŎƘŜǎ ŦǊƻƳ ΨŘŜƭ /ƘŀƭŀƴƎŜΩ ǘƻ 
ΨDǊƛƳǎǘƻƴ ōŜƪƪŜΩ ŀƴŘ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ƳƻƻǊǎ ƻŦ ¸ŜŀǊǎƭŜȅ ǘƻ DƛƭƭƛƴƎ ΨƻǳǘƎŀƴƎŜΩΦ  ¸ŜŀǊǎƭŜȅ ƳƻƻǊ 
ǎǘǊŜǘŎƘŜǎ ŦǊƻƳ Ψ.ǊŀƴŘŜǎōȅ ōŜƪΩ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ΨǘƻǊǊŜƴǘ ŘŜƭ .ƻǘǘŜƴΩ ŀƴŘ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƻ ΨǘƘŜ ǘƻǊǊŜƴǘ ŘŜ 
¢ƘƻǊǇ ²ƻƭƘƻǳǎΩ42.  If you continue to assume that Calliger Slack runs down the valley, the 
description of Gilling land is fairly clear including the line of stones running to Grimston Beck.  
όtǊŜǎǳƳŀōƭȅ DƛƭƭƛƴƎ ΨƻǳǘƎŀƴƎŜΩ ǿŀǎ ǎƻƳŜ ŦƻǊƳ ƻŦ ƎŀǘŜ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ƻƭŘ ǊƻǳǘŜ ƻǳǘ ƻŦ DƛƭƭƛƴƎΦύ   
 
The first part of the description of Yearsley moor is from Brandsby Beck to Botten Beck:  
could the Botten be the stream now called the River Foss which runs north/south through 
hǳƭǎǘƻƴ wŜǎŜǊǾƻƛǊ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ¢ƘƻǊǇŜ ŀǊŜŀΣ ƴŜŀǊ ŀ ƘƻǳǎŜ ǎǘƛƭƭ ŎŀƭƭŜŘ Ψ.ǳǊǘƻƴ IƻǳǎŜΩ ŀƴŘ ǿƘƛŎƘΣ 
ŀƭƻƴƎ ǿƛǘƘ Ψ[ƻǿŜǊ .ǳǊǘƻƴ IƻǳǎŜΩΣ ƛǎ ǎƘƻǿƴ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ CƛǊǎǘ 9Řƛǘƛƻƴ hǊŘƴŀƴŎŜ {ǳǊǾŜȅ aŀǇ43?  
Interestingly, the Yearsley/Oulston Civil Parish Boundary still runs up this stream.  Moreover, 
could Bukdensyke, the name of the deer park granted to Thomas de Colville in 134744 also 
be another version of Botten/Burton?  The boundary of Yearsley moor clearly ran along a 
ǎǘǊŜŀƳ όΨǘƻǊǊŜƴǘΩύ ŀƴŘ ǎǳƛǘŀōƭȅ ǇƻǎƛǘƛƻƴŜŘ ǎǘǊŜŀƳǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŀǊŜŀ ŀǊŜ ƭƛƳƛǘŜŘΣ ǎƻ ƛǘ ǎŜŜƳǎ ŀ 
ǎǘǊƻƴƎ Ǉƻǎǎƛōƛƭƛǘȅ ǘƘŀǘ .ǳƪŘŜƴκ.ƻǘǘŜƴ .ŜŎƪ ƛǎ ƴƻǿ ǘƘŜ wƛǾŜǊ CƻǎǎΦ  όΨCƻǎǎΩ ǿŀǎΣ ƘƻǿŜǾŜǊΣ ǳǎŜŘ 
elsewhere such as in the 1378 agreement45Σ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜǎ ΨΧŦƻǎǎŜ ŘŜƭ /ŀƭŀƴƎŜ ōŜƪΧΩΥ  ΨŦƻǎǎΩ 
ǿŀǎ ŀ ƎŜƴŜǊŀƭ ǘŜǊƳ ǳǎŜŘ ŦƻǊ ŀ ŘƛǘŎƘ ƻǊ ƳƻŀǘΦ  Lǘ ƛǎ ǎǳƎƎŜǎǘŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ΨŦƻǎǎŜ ŘŜƭ /ŀƭŀƴƎŜ ōŜƪΩ 

                                                             
41 Op. cit. 
42 Op. cit. 
43 Yorkshire 122. 
44 Op. cit. 
45 Op. cit. 


